

Congressional Record

United States of America proceedings and debates of the 114^{tb} congress, second session

Vol. 162

No. 146

House of Representatives

The House met at 10 a.m. and was called to order by the Speaker pro tempore (Mr. BYRNE).

DESIGNATION OF SPEAKER PRO TEMPORE

The SPEAKER pro tempore laid before the House the following communication from the Speaker:

WASHINGTON, DC,

September 27, 2016. I hereby appoint the Honorable BRADLEY BYRNE to act as Speaker pro tempore on this day.

PAUL D. RYAN, Speaker of the House of Representatives.

MORNING-HOUR DEBATE

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Pursuant to the order of the House of January 5, 2016, the Chair will now recognize Members from lists submitted by the majority and minority leaders for morning-hour debate.

The Chair will alternate recognition between the parties, with each party limited to 1 hour and each Member other than the majority and minority leaders and the minority whip limited to 5 minutes, but in no event shall debate continue beyond 11:50 a.m.

HYDE AMENDMENT

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentlewoman from Florida (Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ) for 5 minutes.

Ms. WASSERMAN SCHULTZ. Mr. Speaker, I rise today in support of every woman in our country and her right to make her own healthcare decisions in consultation with her doctors.

Women should be free to make those most personal of decisions without the interference of politicians and, specifically, without the interference of the Hyde amendment.

The Hyde amendment is an insidious and antiwomen's healthcare provision

that, in its 40 years of existence, has pushed safe and legal abortions out of the reach of women at the lowest ends of our socioeconomic ladder. It overwhelmingly affects women of color, immigrants, and young women.

Instead of lifting up our middle class and working families, Republican politicians have built roadblocks at every corner through the Hyde amendment and countless other restrictions on women's health care. It is long past time for us to remove it from Federal law, and I am proud to be a cosponsor of the EACH Woman Act, which would do just that.

STOP THE CLEAN POWER PLAN

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentleman from West Virginia (Mr. MOONEY) for 5 minutes.

Mr. MOONEY of West Virginia. Mr. Speaker, right now, down the street at the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, our very own West Virginia attorney general, Patrick Morrisey, is arguing against the unconstitutional coal and job-killing plan known as the Clean Power Plan.

Time and again, President Obama has put radical leftwing environmentalists ahead of hardworking Americans. Obama's so-called Clean Power Plan is no different. This plan is a laundry list of unnecessary environmental restrictions that will increase energy costs and put even more Americans out of work.

In West Virginia, we rely on coal for over 90 percent of our power generation. This regulation will shut down our power plants, kill our coal jobs, and dramatically raise home energy prices for West Virginians.

I have been working at a Federal level to help put a stop to these jobkilling policies. Last year, I sent a letter to Governor Tomblin, along with Representatives MCKINLEY and JENKINS of West Virginia, urging him not to comply with the Clean Power Plan. Under the plan, States are forced to come up with a State Implementation Plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions on a timeline that would be very harmful to our State.

This January, my first bill to pass the U.S. House of Representatives was aimed at putting a stop to the stream protection rule. When the rewrite of the rule was first proposed by the Office of Surface Mining, or OSM, they described it as a "minor" regulation that would only impact one coal region. However, the proposed stream protection rule contains sweeping changes that amount to modifying or amending 475 existing rules. The proposed rule would destroy up to 77,000 coal mining jobs nationwide, including up to 52,000 in the Appalachian region.

My bill, H.R. 1644, the Supporting Transparent Regulatory and Environmental Actions in Mining Act, simply requires a study to be completed to determine if the rules governing mining need to be updated or changed. It calls for all scientific data used in rulemaking to be made publicly available and prevents the Office of Surface Mining from overstepping their regulatory role in implementing Clean Water Act provisions.

When I campaigned to represent the people of the Second Congressional District of West Virginia in Congress, I promised that I would fight for the coal industry and the hard workers of our State. West Virginia and our country need the Clean Power Plan to be stopped indefinitely before more damage to the coal industry is done.

DANGEROUS, CHILLING EFFECT OF REPUBLICAN SELECT PANEL

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentlewoman from Illinois (Ms. SCHAKOWSKY) for 5 minutes.

 \Box This symbol represents the time of day during the House proceedings, e.g., \Box 1407 is 2:07 p.m. Matter set in this typeface indicates words inserted or appended, rather than spoken, by a Member of the House on the floor.



H5915

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Mr. Speaker, last week, Republicans on the panel they call the Select Investigative Panel on Infant Lives, which we call the Select Panel to Attack Women's Health, voted to recommend criminal contempt against a small biotech company and its owner and also release publicly the name of a doctor who has been interviewed privately by that panel. These actions are a disgrace to the House.

Over the past year, the select panel Republicans have abused congressional authority to harass, intimidate, and bully doctors and researchers, with the ultimate goal of driving companies away from fetal tissue research and ending lifesaving research. They have done this largely out of the public view and, ironically, at the same time that Chair BLACKBURN and other leading Republicans profess support for researchers and for funding 21st century cures.

Tragically, their stealth campaign against lifesaving research is working. One tissue procurement company informed the panel that: "Due in large part to the costs borne from having to respond to these congressional inquiries, our client is no longer doing business."

The University of California at Los Angeles told us that "recent national events have increased the challenge of obtaining the fetal tissues" needed for ongoing research. The negative publicity about fetal tissue research also delayed publication of a study whose findings have the potential to impact "development of therapies for HIV, cancer, multiple sclerosis, asthma, and organ transplant rejection."

UCLA went on to explain that one lab "has reduced their effort on studies that require fetal tissues, despite the importance of this research, due to concerns about personal safety."

Rockefeller University similarly told the panel that there is now "a paucity of sources from which to obtain human fetal tissue, creating roadblocks to the conduct of important biomedical research" and that one laboratory is "currently unavailable to perform research that it hopes will lead to cures for human disease."

Other researchers have reported that promising studies and clinical trials for neurological conditions, such as MS and Alzheimer's disease, have been halted or delayed due to reduced availability of fetal tissue for research. Other leading institutions, including Harvard, the Yale School of Medicine, and the University of Minnesota, have confirmed the importance of fetal tissue as a tool for understanding and treating diseases and conditions that impact millions of Americans.

The Republican attacks on this research are particularly troubling as scientists race to understand how the Zika virus impacts fetal brain development. A leading association of research scientists has explained that "the use of donated fetal tissue, including placental tissue, has provided the best understanding of how Zika viruses behave in the body." These insights "are already guiding the development of drugs that may protect the unborn baby from the ravages of the Zika virus."

The Republican select panel's dangerous witch hunt has put this lifesaving research at risk. It is also endangering individual lives.

Last Monday, Chair BLACKBURN publicly released the name of a healthcare provider who was privately interviewed by the panel. This doctor has already been the target of harassment and threats and repeatedly asked the panel to safeguard her identity. Just last week, her lawyer informed Chair BLACKBURN that her university had to increase security as a result of a prior leak of information by panel Republicans. Even knowing this, they released her name.

This has gone on long enough. We are elected officials. It is our opportunity and responsibility to make things better for the people we serve. That privilege and the power that accompanies it should not be abused. This select panel should be brought to an immediate end.

Mr. Speaker, I include in the RECORD letters from the University of California at Los Angeles, Rockefeller University, and from university counsel regarding the danger that panel Republicans have created for this doctor and her students.

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA,

Los Angeles, CA, September 19, 2016. Hon. JAN SCHAKOWSKY,

Ranking Member, Select Investigative Panel on Infant Lives, Energy and Commerce Committee, House of Representatives, Washinaton, DC.

DEAR REPRESENTATIVE SCHAKOWSKY: On behalf of the University of California, Los Angeles ("UCLA"), I have attached UCLA's response to your letter of July 28, 2016, requesting that UCLA provide the Select Investigative Panel on Infant Lives with information to better understand the importance of and risk to fetal tissue research.

UCLA conducts research using fetal tissue that is vital to an understanding of human biology and to efforts directed toward new treatments for a wide variety of adult and childhood diseases and medical conditions. Our research is conducted in full compliance with federal and state law and in accordance with our tripartite mission of education, research, and public service. The information provided below answers the five specific requests made in your letter.

Please note that UCLA has omitted identifying information from the enclosed documents based on concerns for the safety and security of individuals conducting research. Should you have any questions regarding this response, please contact me.

Sincerely, UCLA HEALTH/DAVID GEFFEN SCHOOL OF MEDICINE.

1. PAST BENEFITS OF FETAL TISSUE RESEARCH.

Since the 1930's, fetal tissue has been used in a broad range of research that has led to lifesaving discoveries. The Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC), of which UCLA is a member, has previously noted that human fetal tissue research has been critical in establishing permanent cell lines for use in vaccine research for diseases such as polio, hepatitis A, measles, mumps, rubel-

la, chickenpox, and rabies. These established cell lines are currently being used to develop an Ebola vaccine.

Fetal tissue proved to be necessary for the production of consumer vaccines against measles, rubella, rabies, chicken pox, shingles and hepatitis A. According to the journal Nature, at least 5.8 billion vaccine doses have been derived from fetal tissue lines.

2. POTENTIAL FUTURE BENEFITS THAT MIGHT BE GAINED THROUGH CONTINUED FETAL RESEARCH

Biomedical research continues to benefit from the use of new fetal tissue. According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "fetal tissue continues to be a critical resource for important efforts such as research on degenerative eye disease, human development disorders such as Down syndrome, and infectious diseases, among a host of other diseases."

As noted in the journal Nature, "In the past 25 years, fetal cell lines have been used in a roster of medical advances, including the production of a blockbuster arthritis drug and therapeutic proteins that fight cystic fibrosis and hemophilia." Yet, existing fetal material and cell lines ". . . are of limited use for scientists because they do not faithfully mimic native tissue and represent only a subset of cell types. . . . The lines can also accumulate mutations after replicating in vitro over time." New fetal material is critical if we are to continue to pursue vaccines for HIV and other diseases as well as create treatments and cures for devastating illnesses such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's Disease, blinding eye disorders such a macular degeneration, diabetes, and schizophrenia.

Our response to question 4 below cites a diverse range of diseases being studied by UCLA laboratories whose research requires the use of fetal tissues. These research activities are critical for the development of new therapies for the treatment of these diseases.

3. UNIQUE ASPECTS OF FETAL TISSUE IN RE-SEARCH, IN COMPARISON WITH ADULT CELLS OR OTHER CELLULAR ORGANISMS THAT MIGHT BE USED FOR RESEARCH PURPOSES

As described in the following summary of research performed in UCLA laboratories (response to question 4), human fetal tissues are critical for current and future research activities for multiple reasons. First, human fetal tissues exhibit biological properties that are distinct from those of tissues derived from children or adults, and these properties, often related to an enhanced capacity for growth and regeneration, can be highly desirable for the development of novel therapies. It therefore is critical to understand the unique properties of fetal tissues, which can be accomplished only through a direct analysis. Some therapies under development would require the direct use of fetal cells, such as recent clinical trials using fetal neural cells to treat patients with spinal cord injury or Parkinson's Disease. Most therapies, however, will emerge from the study of fetal tissues rather than directly including the cells in the ultimate drug product.

Second, the direct study of human fetal tissues is essential for an understanding of human development. This understanding is necessary for the advancement of fundamental biology, for the pursuit of therapies for the treatment of developmental diseases, such as Down syndrome and the microcephaly associated with Zika virus infection, and for the pursuit of therapies for the treatment of many other diseases that have been linked to developmental defects, including several cancers.

Third, human fetal tissues are critical for the establishment of mouse models for the study of human diseases and for the testing of potential new drugs and other therapies. For example, rodents are highly valuable for biomedical research, but they are inadequate for many studies of human disease and for the advanced testing of new therapies (e.g. HIV does not infect rodent cells). To circumvent the limitations of rodents, human fetal tissues can be implanted into immunocompromised mice, thereby generating an invaluable model system for studies that require the use of a living animal, such as the testing of new drugs. Importantly, human fetal tissues are essential for the establishment of these models due to their unique properties in comparison to tissues from children and adults.

4. SUMMARY OF ANY RESEARCH CONDUCTED SINCE 2010 THAT UCLA HAS BEEN INVOLVED IN THAT USED FETAL TISSUE OR RELIED UPON OTHER STUDIES THAT USED FETAL TISSUE

Research laboratories at UCLA studying a wide array of human diseases have used fetal tissues for their medical research projects since 2010. A survey of these researchers resulted in a consistent response that the use of fetal tissues has been, and will continue to be, essential for progress in their fields. While much remains to be learned about the specific properties of fetal tissues, it has been well-established that their properties are distinct from those of adult tissues. Fetal cells often differ from other cells because the fetal cells need to support the rapid growth and maturation of the tissue during fetal and neonatal development; in contrast, the functions of cells from children and adults are usually restricted to maintenance of the physiological functions of the tissue. An understanding of the unique properties of fetal cells and tissues is likely to be of great value for the development of new treatments for a number of devastating human diseases.

We provide here a summary of seven representative research efforts at UCLA that rely on fetal tissues and for which the research is strongly dependent on continued availability of fetal tissue

CANCER: One project focuses on an effort to improve the treatment of a form of lymphocyte leukemia in young children. Although the survival rate of these patients has improved dramatically, approximately 15% of pediatric patients with the most aggressive forms of the leukemia continue to die. A growing body of evidence suggests that these fatal leukemias may be unusually aggressive because they emerged from a unique type of B cell progenitor (B cells are white blood cells that secrete antibodies) generated only during fetal development. Research recently completed at UCLA has shown that the genetic regulation of fetal and adult B cell development is distinct. The aim of the ongoing research is to identify genes expressed only in fetal B-cell progenitors that contribute to the development of the aggressive forms of leukemia observed in young children.

IMMUNITY: Another UCLA research laboratory is immersed in an analysis of fetal T cells, another important type of white blood cell generated in the thymus. A primary goal of this laboratory is to develop improved strategies for rejuvenation of the immune system in cancer patients and in HIV patients whose immune systems have been compromised by chronic virus infection. Human fetal T cell progenitors have been found to be completely different from progenitors found in children and adults in their ability to rejuvenate the immune system. This laboratory has been performing detailed comparisons of the molecular properties of the fetal and adult cells in an effort to understand how to speed up immune system re-

juvenation and make the immune system healthier.

As exemplified above, one general reason several UCLA laboratories rely on fetal tissues for their research is that an examination of the properties of the fetal tissues is needed to understand how they differ from older tissues and from tissues derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). iPSC are cells with embryonic stem cell like properties that can be generated from a patient's own skin cells (by a method developed less than 10 years ago), and then matured into any of a wide variety of human tissues; these cells hold great promise for the treatment of many degenerative and chronic diseases. One goal of the researchers is to engineer adult cells and iPSC to possess the unique, beneficial properties of fetal cells. This goal can be achieved only if the molecular features of

the fetal cells have been clearly defined. LUNG DISEASES: A UCLA laboratory is pursuing new treatments for a form of lung disease in infants. A long-term goal is to treat this disease by generating iPSC from a patient and then converting the iPSC into therapeutic lung cells. The ultimate therapy would not require the use of fetal cells. However, successful development of the therapy depends on an understanding of the unique properties of fetal lung cells, which have been found by the UCLA laboratory to grow and divide far more robustly than comparable cells from children or adults. The aboratory has developed a disease model that is being used to understand the unusual growth properties of he fetal cells and how these properties can be harnessed for therapeutic benefit.

GENETIC AND MUSCLE DISORDERS: Another UCLA laboratory studies diseases of muscle, including muscular dystrophy, toward the goal of regenerating functional muscle in patients. Similar to the findings with fetal lung, this laboratory has found that the regenerative capacity of human fetal muscle cells greatly exceeds that of older muscle satellite cells. Recent studies of the underlying mechanisms have revealed possible molecular explanations for the differences between the fetal cells and older cells. This professor considers fetal muscle cells to be the "gold standard" for all efforts to develop therapies for degenerative muscle diseases, due to the powerful and unique regenerative properties of these cells. Quite simply, for an understanding of the important differences between fetal muscle cells and older muscle cells, which are critical for the development of novel therapies, there is no alternative to the ability to analyze the fetal tissues themselves. It is also noteworthy that several of these studies are moving rapidly toward clinical trials, which necessitates the focus on human cells rather than rodent models.

HIV: Another reason several researchers rely on the availability of fetal tissues is that the fetal tissues can be used to create mice implanted with a specific human tissue, thereby providing an animal model in which potential therapies for the treatment of diseases of that human tissue can be tested. Such mice can eliminate the need for the testing of therapies in non-human primates, and are often preferable to studies of nonhuman primates because they allow the direct study of human cells.

Some UCLA laboratories use mice containing a human immune system for their studies of potential HIV therapies. These mice, which can be generated successfully only with the use of human fetal cells, are extremely important for progress of the HIV field, as HIV does not infect rodent cells. Currently, these mice are being used to study gene therapy approaches for the treatment of HIV infection, with the studies leading rapidly toward clinical trials.

BRAIN/SPINAL CORE INJURY: Human fetal tissues are also of great value for studies of the unique structure of the human brain, which is dramatically different from that of the mouse brain. UCLA research has used human embryonic stem cell lines to generate brain organoids (collections of neuronal cells that self-assemble into structures that resemble small portions of the brain). A comparison to fetal brain tissue is essential for the researchers to evaluate the validity of their organoid method, which is currently being used to understand developmental diseases of the brain, as well as the impact of Zika virus on brain development. The laboratory hopes to use this model to screen for drugs that may protect the fetal brain from the growth impairment caused by Zika virus infection. This same laboratory is also studying strategies for the generation of spinal cord neurons in the laboratory, for use in determining the underlying causes of neurodegenerative diseases, such as spinal muscular atrophy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and for screening for drugs that could slow disease progression and extend patient lifespan.

INFERTILITY: The final UCLA laboratory discussed in this report uses fetal tissues for studies aimed at the diagnosis and treatment infertility. of human State-of-the-art genomics methods are being used to develop reference maps of germ cells and of fertilized eggs at the earliest stages of embryonic development. One goal of these studies is to better understand the reasons for spontaneous miscarriages. These studies are strongly dependent on human fetal tissues because early embryonic development in mice differs substantially from that in humans. The reference maps being developed by this laboratory are also of great importance for the study of germ cell cancers.

5. DESCRIPTION OF ANY RECENT CHANGES EXPE-RIENCED BY UCLA IN THE AVAILABILITY OF FETAL TISSUE FOR RESEARCH AND THE RE-LATED IMPACT OF THESE CHANGES, INCLUDING WHETHER OR NOT THERE HAVE BEEN INTER-RUPTIONS AND/OR DELAYS IN RESEARCH AS A RESULT.

Most UCLA researchers surveyed emphasized that recent national events have increased the challenge of obtaining the fetal tissues required for the research projects described above. One reputable company was forced to close due to legal expenses associated with challenges to its operations. This has delayed important studies and has forced laboratories to spend a considerable amount of time and resources searching for alternative suppliers. One laboratory has identified a reliable source of fetal tissues in Germany. Another laboratory has reduced their effort on studies that require fetal tissues, despite the importance of this research, due to concerns about personal safety. Of further note, recent publicity surrounding the procurement of fetal tissue delayed publication of a manuscript submitted by UCLA investigators to a renowned journal by more than seven months. The findings reported in that study have the potential to impact the development of therapies for HIV, cancer, multiple sclerosis, asthma, and organ transplant rejection.

THE ROCKEFELLER UNIVERSITY,

New York, New York, September 21, 2016. Hon. JAN SCHAKOWSKY,

Ranking Member, Select Investigative Panel, House of Representatives, Committee on Energy and Commerce, Washington, DC.

DEAR CONGRESSWOMAN SCHAKOWSKY: The Rockefeller University offers our response to your request for information regarding the importance and availability of fetal tissue as a critical resource in aspects of our scientific research. We set forth below your concerns and our responses.

PAST BENEFITS OF FETAL TISSUE RESEARCH Human fetal cells and tissues have had a decisive and major impact on our current understanding of the molecular and cellular origins of human organs and tissues. Human fetal tissues have allowed researchers to explore and understand the biology and uniqueness of human development. This knowledge has translated into the rational design of both treatment and prevention of numerous human diseases and has saved innumerable human lives.

Fetal tissue has contributed directly to the improvement of child and adult human health. In the 1960s, cell lines derived from fetal tissue were used to manufacture vaccines including those that counter measles, rubella, rabies, chicken pox, shingles and hepatitis A, cumulatively saving millions of lives. The rubella vaccine alone eliminates 5.000 miscarriages each year.

Fetal tissue has been used to uncover disease pathways that overlap with natural developmental processes and may guide development of therapeutic treatments for heart disease. Fetal cell lines have been used in medical advances for the production of pharmaceuticals, including an arthritis drug and therapeutic proteins that fight cystic fibrosis and hemophilia. Every indication emphatically supports the notion that further understanding of degenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's, Huntington's, and a host of other devastating and as yet incurable conditions, depend specifically on access to fetal tissue.

Ongoing fetal tissue research is critical for continued advances in regenerative medicine, including organ/tissue regeneration of heart, liver, pancreas, lung, muscle, skin, and more, holding out hope for a wide variety of therapeutic discoveries.

Human tissue-based models for studying uniquely human viral diseases are important for understanding mechanisms of disease progression and developing preventive measures and therapies. Fetal tissue has been used to build increasingly complex models of human disease. A single human fetal liver yields material sufficient to produce dozens of humanized mice. Certain human viruses are severely host-range restricted, meaning they infect humans and no other animals. Fetal tissues are essential for production of humanized mice that can be used in learning about such uniquely human conditions.

POTENTIAL FUTURE BENEFITS THAT MIGHT BE GAINED THROUGH CONTINUED FETAL TISSUE RESEARCH

Future benefits of fetal tissue research will include the enhancement of our basic knowledge of human development. It will inevitably impact clinical approaches and provide new means to address currently incurable diseases by providing new technological plat-Scientists have used information forms. gleaned from studies of motor neuron development to guide stem cells to become neurons and establish stem cell-derived models of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, a currently untreatable and fatal disease. These models have allowed researchers to develop new drugs that already are being used in clinical trials to treat ALS. Another of the most promising novel technical platforms in regenerative medicine is using cell-based therapy strategies to replace defective organs rather than attempting to repair the diseased tissue.

For some conditions, potential future benefits must be gained by human fetal tissue research. Certain humanized mice can be produced best with human fetal tissues. Such mice are unique in their ability to support long term infection, thus allowing evaluation of therapies aimed at finding cures. It is increasingly important to study infection, disease mechanisms and antiviral interventions in human cells. Fetal tissue provides a rich source of stem cells for studies in cell culture and also engraftment into small animals that can then be used to model infection, disease progression and test therapies. These provide valuable preclinical models that increase the chances of success before progressing to human clinical trials.

Investigators continue to mine existing gene expression information from fetal tissue samples in order to understand gene function and growth-regulating pathways encountered in normal versus tumor samples. Much that applies to cancer can be learned from gene expression analysis in organ development.

Wide ranges of adult diseases and disorders have their origin during very early human development. Examples include types 1 and 2 diabetes, schizophrenia, and Huntington's disease. Knowledge of how the human fetus generates discrete organs will provide the blueprint for applying human embryonic stem cells for the generation of specific organs used for supportive and regenerative medicine.

UNIQUE ASPECTS OF FETAL TISSUE IN RESEARCH Neither adult stem cells, nor reprogrammed somatic cells approach the versatility and quality of the natural stem cells derived from the fetus which remains the best resource for regenerative medicine. Model organisms, from the fruit fly to rodents, unfortunately cannot fully model human diseases.

We are aware of how many times promising solutions for diabetes, cancer, and neurodegenerative diseases have been shown to cure the mouse or rat but fail when tested in humans. The human neocortex, for example, contains cells and anatomy that are specifically human, and not found even in other primates. Fetal tissue provides a unique source of human cells that have the potential to be used directly or engrafted into immunodeficient animals. Human fetal tissue offers an important and unique resource for basic and medical research. There is no comparable substitute for fetal tissue for the accurate understanding of human development

The adult immune system is "educated" to reject animal hosts, complicating the creation and production of animal models with humanized immune systems. In contrast to the adult, fetal immune cells have not yet been educated and therefore do not recognize the host as foreign. As a result, fetal tissues do not reject the host but rather are engrafted, leading to a chimera that is composed of mouse tissues and human immune cells. These mice are uniquely suited to finding cures through research.

Modern technologies have opened the door to studying the cellular interplay in complex human tissues during their development, normal, and disease states, as well as in aging. From single-cell expression analysis of fetal tissue, a great deal about intracellular communication can be learned that will increase our understanding of how normal as well as malignant growth is governed, and how therapeutic interventions may take advantage of these molecular programs.

RECENT CHANGES EXPERIENCED IN THE AVAILABILITY OF FETAL TISSUE FOR RESEARCH

Currently, there is a paucity of sources from which to obtain human fetal tissue, creating roadblocks to the conduct of important biomedical research. Entities that previously provided the sources of human fetal tissue have either closed, due to external pressure, or currently offer more limited options than previously proffered. Laboratories have experienced significant difficulties in securing fetal tissue for research. One lab reported: We used to receive fetal tissue once or more every week. Over the past year, the supply of fetal tissue has dwindled and become increasingly unavailable and unreliable—to the point where we can no longer depend on this important resource for our studies.

Another lab despaired: In the past, our laboratory was able to obtain fetal tissues nearly every week. For the last several months, we have been unable to obtain any fetal tissue. Humanized mouse production has come to a standstill, and we are currently unable to perform research that we hope will lead to cures for human disease. Thank you for your interest in our re-

Thank you for your interest in our research and the challenges it faces. I hope you find the information provided here responsive to your questions.

MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY,

September 20, 2016. Re Proposed Disclosure of Code Name Dr.

Administrator's Deposition Transcript. Hon. MARSHA BLACKBURN, *Chairman*,

Hon. JAN SCHAKOWSKY, Ranking Member, House Select Panel on Infant Lives,

Washington, DC.

DEAR CHARMAN BLACKBURN: I am writing today on behalf of my client, the University of New Mexico ("UNM") with regard to the notice posted by the Select Panel on its website last night of a business meeting on September 21, 2016. The Select Panel has proposed the meeting to consider, among other items, a resolution to release of the deposition transcript of UNM's doctor, code name: Dr. Administrator, who you publicly named in your online notice.

UNM objects to a vote to release the transcript at this time. The Select Panel would violate its own rules if it released the deposition transcript without having afforded the witness or counsel to review the transcript as required by the governing deposition regulations. See 161 Cong. Rec. E21-01 ¶18 ("If a witness's testimony is transcribed, the witness or the witness's counsel shall be afforded an opportunity to review a copy. No later than five days thereafter, the witness submit suggested changes to the may chair ") In fact, UNM counsel addressed this very issue with the Select Panel majority staff by email as recently as September 12. 2016 and offered to review the transcript in the Select Panel's office and at staff's convenience. See email from UNM Counsel, at Attachment 1. Majority staff never re-

sponded to this offer. UNM continues to have grave concerns about the Select Panel Majority's repeated. intentional public disclosure of the names of its doctors, first in the Interim Report from July 2016, and again in the notice published on the Select Panel's website on September 19, 2016. UNM has asked repeatedly for over six months for assurances that the Select Panel would not disclose the names of its doctors or staff, who UNM has shown are in grave danger of harassment or worse by ex-One tremists who oppose their profession. UNM doctor gave sworn testimony detailing the harassment and threats that this doctor and others have already received, both at their homes and at work. She laid out for the members of the Panel in her deposition why her name and the names of other doctors and staff should not be disclosed. She described the real fear these doctors carry with them each day. At various points your staff provided assurances to UNM counsel that they would take measures to protect the privacy and safety of UNM staff. The most recent and totally unnecessary online publication of a UNM doctor's name directly contravenes all of these assurances.

From the very beginning of this inquiry. UNM has expressed its well-grounded concerns regarding the safety and well-being of its students, faculty and staff. The potential for harm to these individuals is real and demonstrable. This is evidenced by the deadly attack at a Planned Parenthood clinic in Colorado last year-an attack where the assailant killed, among others, a police officer-as well as the specific death threats recently received by individuals connected to the procurement of fetal tissue. One of those death threats prompted an investigation by the FBI, and the arrest of an individual who made that specific threat. Counsel to UNM expressed these specific concerns repeatedly in correspondence to the Select Panel on January 29, February 16, February 19, March 3, April 11, and May 19 of 2016, and in various email correspondence.

The repeated public disclosure of these names demonstrates a knowing and intentional disregard for the safety of UNM personnel by the Select Panel Majority, who has been on notice since January 2016 of the charged environment surrounding these professionals and the potential danger they face. Going forward, the members of the Select Panel who vote in favor of this resolution to release the deposition transcript will personally bear responsibility for any harm that comes to these individuals.

UNM requests that if the Select Panel adopts a resolution to release the transcript, whether prematurely in violation of its rules or after UNM has had a chance to review it, that the Select Panel redact the UNM doctor's name from the transcript. The fact that the Select Panel has previously published the doctor's name does not excuse it from an ongoing obligation to avoid endangering UNM staff. Secondly, UNM requests that the Select Panel postpones the disclosure of the transcript by a minimum of a week so that UNM can work with local law enforcement and campus security to put additional security measures in place to protect students and staff.

Sincerely,

STEPHEN M. RYAN.

MINERS' PENSIONS

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentleman from West Virginia (Mr. JENKINS) for 5 minutes.

Mr. JENKINS of West Virginia. Mr. Speaker, thousands of retirees and widows in my district and coal States across the country are worried about making ends meet. They are wondering if the promises made to them will be kept. They want to know if Congress will act to preserve the pensions and healthcare benefits they worked hard to earn.

Mr. Speaker, our coal miners and their widows deserve the pensions and benefits they were promised. However, the funds for these vital programs are running out—and time is running out to fix these critical issues.

We have a solution. In the House, it is called the Coal Healthcare and Pensions Protection Act, legislation I proudly cosponsored, along with ALEX MOONEY of the Second Congressional District of West Virginia. This legislation was introduced by our fellow West Virginian, Congressman DAVID MCKIN-LEY. A companion bill has also been introduced in the Senate. I want to share the words of a West Virginian who watched her father spend 30 years in the mines. Sherri Armstrong of Boone County wrote me, urging Congress to protect the benefits that her father had earned. She said her dad worked every shift available and counted every penny he earned. He took pride in his job, but his future is now in jeopardy. Here is what she wrote:

For decades, their work provided for their communities, State, and Nation. If something is not done, and their benefits not protected, many of these people will be forced to either return to the workforce or to lose all they worked for and depend on public assistance to sustain them their remaining days.

Our coal miners made this country what it is today. They mined the coal that made the steel that built the skyscrapers and won world wars. These miners and their families deserve no less than what they worked their entire lives to earn: the peace of mind that comes with a pension.

I urge Congress to act. Pass this important legislation and protect our miners and their families.

HYDE AMENDMENT

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentlewoman from California (Ms. LEE) for 5 minutes.

Ms. LEE. Mr. Speaker, I rise today to call for an end to the discriminatory Hyde amendment, which has harmed too many women for far too long.

This week marks 40 years since the Hyde amendment was first passed. For 40 years, politicians have denied the full range of comprehensive health services, including abortion coverage, to women just because of their income, employer, or ZIP Code. This must stop.

This bill was passed in 1976 to prevent low-income Medicaid recipients from exercising their constitutional rights. I was here working as a staffer for my predecessor, Ron Dellums, when this amendment first passed. We fought tooth and nail against it then. We knew that this harmful rider would help pave the way for decades of harsh, unfair restrictions.

□ 1015

Now, as a member of the Appropriations Committee, each year I have fought the fight against Republican efforts to double down and to expand the Hyde amendment.

In fact, in 2016, the Hyde amendment now affects more than just Medicaid recipients, to include: Federal employees and their dependents, military servicemembers, Native Americans, Peace Corps volunteers, immigrants, Federal prisoners, and the residents of Washington, D.C.

The discriminatory Hyde amendment also disproportionately impacts low-income women and women of color. More than half of the women subject to the Hyde amendment are women of color.

We also know that when those who seek abortion care are denied, they are much more likely to fall into poverty than a woman who is able to access care.

The Hyde amendment is just wrong. It is not only the Hyde amendment. Since 2010, State legislatures have adopted 334 abortion restrictions, further expanding the hardship of abortion coverage like the Hyde amendment; again, politicians making decisions for women that they have no business even thinking about. Women deserve the right to privacy and the right to make their own healthcare decisions.

From shutting down clinics to creating longer wait lines, these restrictions impose the greatest burden on low-income women, immigrants, women of color, and young people.

Now, it is not our job, as elected officials, to make family planning decisions for women. Politicians need to get out of personal healthcare decisions for women.

Let me be clear. A woman's access to abortion should never depend on her ZIP Code, her employer, or her income. Whether you agree with women having abortions, that is not the issue. The issue is we should not discriminate against women who are denied the full range of comprehensive health services.

Secondly, politicians need to stop interfering with women's personal decisions about their body. That is why I, along with Congresswoman SCHA-KOWSKY, Congresswoman DEGETTE, and 70 of our colleagues, offered and introduced the EACH Woman Act, H.R. 2972. This legislation would end the discriminatory Hyde amendment and ensure that all women can exercise their fundamental right to privacy and their fundamental right to choose.

Specifically, this bill ensures that, first, if a woman gets her care or insurance through the Federal Government, she will be covered for all pregnancyrelated care.

Secondly, it means that Federal, State, and local legislators will not be able to interfere with the private insurance market to prevent insurance companies from providing a full range of healthcare services, including abortion coverage.

Right now, we have over 120 cosponsors working to stop politicians from interfering with a woman's reproductive rights, and we are building a coalition of elected officials, grassroots organizers, faith communities, and women who are ready to see this discriminatory and dangerous law taken off of the books.

So, as we mark 40 years of this terrible policy, I urge my colleagues to be bold and to support the EACH Woman Act. Together, we will end the Hyde amendment to ensure equal access to all healthcare services, including abortions for all women, not just for some who have the resources to ensure that their right continues as they make their own personal healthcare decisions.